
STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission : 
 On Its Own Motion : 
   : 
  vs. : 13-0660 
   : 
Illinois Telephone Corporation : 
   : 
Citation for alleged failure to maintain : 
obligations under the Public Utilities : 
Act and for alleged failure to maintain : 
obligations as an Eligible : 
Telecommunications Carrier : 
 
 

ORDER 
 
By the Commission: 
 
 Illinois Telephone Corporation (“ITC” or “Respondent”) is a telecommunications 
carrier as defined in Section 13-202 of the Public Utilities Act ("Act" or “PUA”).  220 
ILCS 5/13-202.  ITC has received four Certificates of Service Authority from the 
Commission: (1) on June 21, 2000, in Docket No. 00-0300, to provide resale of local 
telecommunications services within the State of Illinois, (2) on May 8, 2002, in Docket 
No. 02-0159, to provide facilities-based inter-exchange telecommunications services 
within the State of Illinois, (3) on May 8, 2002, in Docket No. 02-0159, to provide 
facilities-based local exchange telecommunications services within the State of Illinois, 
and (4) on March 8, 2006, in Docket No. 06-0001, to provide resold inter-exchange 
telecommunications services within the State of Illinois (collectively, “Certificates of 
Service”). 
 
 In a Staff Report dated October 31, 2013, Staff of the Consumer Services 
Division and of the Policy Division recommend that the Commission initiate a 
proceeding directing ITC to respond to the allegations in the Report and to show cause 
why the Commission should not, among other things, revoke ITC’s certificates and its 
designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier ("ETC"). 
 
 As detailed in the Staff Report, Staff discovered that more than 1,100 customers 
had been switched from SOS Telecom, Inc. ("SOS") to ITC without proper authorization 
and verification as required by Section 13-902(d) of the Act.  220 ILCS 5/13-902(d).  As 
the Staff Report notes, Section 13-902(e) provides that a switch in a subscriber’s 
selection of a provider of telecommunications service that complies with the rules 



promulgated by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) (47 CFR § 64.1120) 
and any amendments thereto shall be deemed to be in compliance with Section 13-902.  
The Staff Report finds that ITC did not meet the requirements set forth in Section 13-
902, nor did the switch comply with the FCC rules. 
 
 The Staff Report also states that the affected customers saw their rates increase 
under ITC following the switch from SOS.  Section 13-505 of the PUA requires that any 
proposed increase or decrease in rates or charges, or proposed change in any 
classification or tariff resulting in an increase or decrease in rates or charges, for a 
competitive telecommunications service shall be permitted upon the filing of the 
proposed rate, charge, classification, or tariff.1 220 ILCS 5/13-505.  Furthermore, under 
Section 13-505, notice of an increase must be given, no later than the prior billing cycle, 
to all potentially affected customers by mail, publication in a newspaper of general 
circulation, or equivalent means of notice.  ITC failed to file a proposed increase with the 
Commission, and failed to provide notice of an increase to the affected customers at 
any time.  The Staff Report states that Staff is particularly troubled by the fact that many 
of the customers appear to have been Lifeline recipients, as ITC may not only have 
improperly taken their service and raised their rates, but also received federal and state 
aid monies in the process. 
 
 Under the PUA, the Commission has the authority to take various actions to 
correct switching violations, including requiring the telecommunications carrier to refund 
all fees and charges collected, requiring the carrier to refund excess charges collected, 
requiring the carrier to pay a fine of up to $1,000 into the Public Utility Fund for each 
repeated and intentional violation, issuing a cease-and-desist order, revoking the 
violating carrier’s certificate of service authority, recovering civil penalties from the 
carrier,  and conducting a review to alter or modify the carrier’s certificate. 220 ILCS 
5/13-902(g), 13-304, 13-401(a).  In its Report, Staff recommends that the Commission 
initiate a proceeding directing ITC to respond to the allegations and explain why the 
Commission should not use its authority to discipline ITC, including any or all of the 
following: revoke its certificates and ETC designation, require ITC to reimburse 
customers pursuant to Section 13-902(g)(1) or Section 13-902(g)(2), require ITC to pay 
a fine of up to $1,000 for each repeated and intentional violation of Section 13-902 as 
authorized under 13-902(g)(4), and assess and collect civil penalties from ITC under 
Section 13-304. 
 
 The apparently improper switching of customers is further complicated by the 
designation of both SOS and ITC as Eligible Telecommunications Carriers.2  Under 
Sections 254 and 214 of the federal law, the Telecommunications Act of 1996, 47 
USCS §§ 254, 214 (“Telecom Act”), carriers designated as ETCs may receive 

1 Section 13-505 was amended by Public Act 98-0045 subsequent to the violations alleged herein.  This 
language reflects the statute in effect at the time of the switching of customers. 
2 The Commission designated ITC as an ETC for purposes of receiving Lifeline support on June 28, 
2006, in Docket No. 06-0003.  SOS was designated an ETC by the Commission on July 16, 2008, in 
Docket No. 08-0275. 
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Lifeline/Link-Up subsidy support to provide low-income customers with discounts from 
the monthly cost of telephone service for a single telephone line in their principal 
residence.  Pursuant to Sections 254 and 214 of the Telecom Act, only carriers 
designated as ETCs may receive Lifeline/Link-Up subsidy support.  The Commission is 
the entity with the authority and responsibility for designating ETCs in Illinois under 
Section 214 of the Telecom Act.  47 USCS §214(e)(2). 
  
 Rules of the FCC and of the Commission both require ETCs to verify that a 
subscriber is eligible to participate in the Lifeline program. 47 C.F.R. §54.410; 83 Ill. 
Adm. Code 757.400(b).)  As described in the Staff Report, the evidence shows that 
ITC’s Lifeline subsidies increased from $705 to $6,109 in one month, with no indication 
that ITC verified the eligibility of those customers.  Furthermore, the Staff Report states 
that evidence shows that customers not participating in the Lifeline program as SOS 
customers were switched to Lifeline service under ITC.  Based on this information, Staff 
has concluded that ITC failed to verify that switched customers were eligible for 
participation in the Lifeline program.  Furthermore, according to publicly available 
information from the Universal Service Administrative Company (“USAC”), it appears 
that both ITC and SOS recovered Lifeline subsidies for some of the same customers 
during the month that the customers were transferred to ITC.  This suggests that ITC is 
not operating in a manner consistent with the public interest, and it causes Staff to 
question whether ITC should continue to be designated as an ETC by the Commission. 
 
 Accordingly, Staff recommends that the Commission initiate a proceeding 
directing ITC to respond to the allegations in the Staff Report and to show cause why 
the Commission should not, among other things, revoke ITC’s Certificates of Service 
Authority and designation as an ETC. 
 
 The Commission, being fully advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds 
that: 
 

(1) Illinois Telephone Corporation is a telecommunications carrier within the 
meaning of Section 13-202 of the PUA, 220 ILCS 5/13-202; 

 
(2) the Commission has jurisdiction over Illinois Telephone Corporation and 

the subject matter of this proceeding; 
 
(3) Illinois Telephone Corporation should be made the respondent to this 

proceeding; 
 
(4) the Staff Report dated October 31, 2013, should be made a part of the 

record of this proceeding; 
 
(5) the Staff Report provides a basis for the initiation of a proceeding to 

determine whether ITC can show cause why the Commission should not: 
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(A) revoke, modify, or alter ITC’s Certificates of Service Authority for 
violations of the Public Utilities Act pursuant to Sections 13-401(a) 
and 13-902(g)(6); 

 
(B) revoke ITC’s designation as an Eligible Telecommunications 

Carrier; 
 
(C) require ITC to reimburse customers pursuant to Sections 13-

902(g)(1) or 13-902(g)(2); 
 
(D) require ITC to pay a fine of up to $1,000 for each repeated and 

intentional violation of Section 13-902 as authorized under Section 
13-902(g)(4); and 

 
(E) assess and collect civil penalties from ITC under Section 13-304. 
 

 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Illinois Commerce Commission that a 
proceeding be initiated against Illinois Telephone Company to determine whether the 
Respondent can show cause why the Commission should not: 
 

(A) revoke, modify, or alter ITC's Certificates of Service Authority for 
violations of the Public Utilities Act pursuant to Sections 13-401(a) 
and 13-902(g)(6); 

 
(B) revoke ITC's designation as an Eligible Telecommunications 

Carrier; 
 
(C) require ITC to reimburse customers pursuant to Sections 13-

902(g)(1) or 13-902(g)(2);  
 
(D) require ITC to pay a fine of up to $1,000 for each repeated and 

intentional violation of Section 13-902 as authorized under 13-
902(g)(4); and 

 
(E) assess and collect civil penalties from ITC under Section 13-304. 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Illinois Telephone Company be made a 
Respondent to this proceeding and that the Respondent shall appear at a time and 
place established by the Administrative Law Judge appointed in this proceeding and 
show cause and present evidence why the Commission should not seek the relief 
specified in Finding 5 above. 
  
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Staff Report dated October 31, 2013, be 
made a part of the record of this proceeding. 
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 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Chief Clerk serve a copy of this Order on 
the designated agent of the Respondent. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that failure of the Respondent to appear as required 
may result in the entry of default judgments against Respondent and the imposition of 
any of the aforementioned remedies. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order is not final; it is not subject to the 
Administrative Review Law. 
 
 By Order of the Commission this 4th day of December, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
       (SIGNED) DOUGLAS P. SCOTT 
 
 
                 Chairman 
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